

Annual Review of Neuroscience

Evolutionary Changes in Transcriptional Regulation: Insights into Human Behavior and Neurological Conditions

Ryan N. Doan,^{1,2,3,*} Taehwan Shin,^{1,2,*} and Christopher A. Walsh^{1,2,3,4}

¹Division of Genetics and Genomics, Boston Children's Hospital, Boston, Massachusetts 02115, USA; email: christopher.walsh@childrens.harvard.edu

²Allen Discovery Center for Human Brain Evolution, Boston Children's Hospital, Boston, Massachusetts 02115, USA

³Howard Hughes Medical Institute, Boston Children's Hospital, Boston, Massachusetts 02115, USA

⁴Departments of Pediatrics and Neurology, Harvard Medical School, Boston, Massachusetts 02138, USA

Annu. Rev. Neurosci. 2018. 41:185–206

The Annual Review of Neuroscience is online at neuro.annualreviews.org

https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-neuro-080317-062104

Copyright © 2018 by Annual Reviews. All rights reserved

*These authors contributed equally to the manuscript

ANNUAL CONNECT

- www.annualreviews.org
- Download figures
- Navigate cited references
- Keyword search
- Explore related articles
- Share via email or social media

Keywords

evolution, HARs, comparative genomics, enhancer, autism spectrum disorder, development

Abstract

Understanding the biological basis for human-specific cognitive traits presents both immense challenges and unique opportunities. Although the question of what makes us human has been investigated with several different methods, the rise of comparative genomics, epigenomics, and medical genetics has provided tools to help narrow down and functionally assess the regions of the genome that seem evolutionarily relevant along the human lineage. In this review, we focus on how medical genetic cases have provided compelling functional evidence for genes and loci that appear to have interesting evolutionary signatures in humans. Furthermore, we examine a special class of noncoding regions, human accelerated regions (HARs), that have been suggested to show human-lineage-specific divergence, and how the use of clinical and population data has started to provide functional information to examine these regions. Finally, we outline methods that provide new insights into functional noncoding sequences in evolution.

Contents

INTRODUCTION	186
EVOLUTION OF GENOME STRUCTURE	187
Genomic Alterations Shaped Human-Specific Neural Development	187
Segmental Duplication and Divergent Gene Conversion in Neurodevelopment	188
EVOLUTION OF CODING REGIONS	188
Evolution of Neurodevelopmental Genes	188
Evolution of Human Speech and Possible Role of FOXP2	190
Association of ASPM and the Centriole Complex to Human Brain Expansion	191
GENE REGULATION UNDERLYING BRAIN EVOLUTION	191
Role of Gene Regulation in the Evolution of Social and Cognitive Behavior	191
Primate-Specific GPR56 Gene Promoter Involved in Regulating	
Gyrification in Humans	193
CIS-ACTING REGULATORY ELEMENTS IN NEURAL DEVELOPMENT	194
Using Evolutionary Signatures to Enrich for Functional Enhancer Elements	194
Identification of Elements with Accelerated Primate-Human Divergence	195
Properties of HARs	195
Functional Validation of Regulatory Activity of HARs	196
Role of HARs in Social and Cognitive Development from Studies of Autism	
Spectrum Disorder and Schizophrenia	199
CONCLUSIONS.	199 200

INTRODUCTION

Our understanding of the workings of the brain, as well as its genetic underpinnings, has rapidly advanced in recent years. This development in both neurobiological and genetic understanding has put us in the unique position to answer the fascinating but immensely challenging question of what makes us human.

From high-level comparisons of humans with other mammals, key behavioral and intellectual traits are apparent. Apart from physical differences such as bipedalism and relative hairlessness compared with other primates (Schwartz & Rosenblum 1981, Sockol et al. 2007), cognitive abilities such as communication with syntactical grammar (Hauser et al. 2002), symbolic and abstract representation (Penn et al. 2008), the production of art (Tomasello & Rakoczy 2003), and the development of the scientific method are but a few that appear unique to humans.

Although we can observe these striking behavioral differences, understanding the underlying mechanisms has been far more difficult. Neuroanatomical studies have revealed insights into alterations in brain development among species, notably gross size. Humans possess an unusually large brain compared with our nearest phylogenic relatives; the human brain is approximately three times the size of that of chimpanzees. Many studies have investigated the biological consequences of having an increased brain size, leading to mixed data in which some researchers suggest an important role in social and cognitive functioning (Deaner et al. 2007, Heldstab et al. 2016, Reader & Laland 2002, Street et al. 2017). However, larger mammals (e.g., elephants and killer whales) possess brains that are much larger than that of humans, but are not known to exhibit enhanced cognitive abilities, supporting roles of other possible factors such as total neuron number (Wright et al. 2017). Furthermore, the extended duration of brain development seems to support a special type of neurodevelopment occurring in humans because it occurs over the course of decades—longer than the entire life span of most primates and other mammals (Silbereis et al. 2016). However, although more complex analyses accounting for body size and differing neuroanatomical connections have been informative, there have not yet been any clear human-specific structural differences in the brain that explain the observed cognitive differences among humans and other primates.

Despite the challenges in characterizing biological mechanisms behind human-specific traits, the rapid rise in comparative genomics and epigenomics has provided novel ways to search for processes relevant to interspecies differences. By comparing genomic sequences across species to examine conservation and divergence, we can identify candidate sequences that may have contributed to developmental differences, all without prior knowledge of the precise processes underlying complex human cognitive function. More recently, the use of epigenomics has provided an additional layer of information, relaxing the focus on sequence changes and instead examining epigenomic marks that can suggest changes in gene regulatory function. Together, these methods have opened alternative approaches to studying human evolution.

Moreover, there has been a growing appreciation of the potential of medical genetics in understanding the functional component of this question. Although the use of model organisms has been powerful in understanding fundamental and well-conserved biology, their use in understanding human-specific traits has been much more controversial and limited (Muotri 2016). By contrast, medical genetics provides direct evidence that a given genomic sequence possesses essential functions in human biology. This has been particularly evident in cases such as microcephaly, which affects early brain development and neuroproliferation, and where a portion of the responsible genes appear to have been targets of selective pressures during the evolution of the human lineage. Analogous cases are beginning to be made for more complex neuropsychiatric conditions such as autism spectrum disorder and schizophrenia, which have profound impacts on social behavior, suggesting that some underlying genes might have been evolutionary targets contributing to the development of human social structures.

The hope of evolutionary approaches to human biology is twofold. First, a better understanding promises to help elucidate aspects of the long-standing and fundamental fascination with what biological differences exist between humans and other mammals. Second, and perhaps more importantly, evolutionary approaches provide a unique window into the mechanistic differences that underlie these complex cognitive traits and processes.

In this review, we discuss cases from medical genetics that have identified genes that are important for brain development as well as exhibit evolutionary signatures that suggest a role in phenotypic divergence across species. Furthermore, we examine the gradual shift of human evolutionary biology to noncoding sequences of the genome, specifically focusing on human accelerated regions (HARs), genomic sequences that are conserved across mammals but that appear to diverge in humans. Finally, throughout this review we discuss some of the more recent techniques that enable high-throughput functional study of noncoding elements, and examine their role in human disease.

EVOLUTION OF GENOME STRUCTURE

Genomic Alterations Shaped Human-Specific Neural Development

Some of the most fascinating genetic advances in our understanding of why humans are distinct from other primates resulted from the combined strengths of comparative genomics, DNA sequencing, and human diseases. The Chimpanzee Genome Project aimed to identify and correlate genetic differences occurring between humans and our most recent primate ancestor, with some of the most striking human-specific characteristics including neurodevelopmental and behavioral evolution (Chimpanzee Seq. Anal. Consort. 2005, Olson & Varki 2003, Varki & Altheide 2005, Watanabe & Hattori 2006). Simultaneously, numerous vertebrate genomes, including those of other primates, have been assembled, allowing ever-better, large-scale comparative genomic studies of human-specific phenotypes.

Comparative analyses between primates have provided many groundbreaking discoveries about human phenotypic divergence by implicating multiple mutational mechanisms. Studies have included examinations of the role of structural variation [e.g., deletions, segmental duplications (Cheng et al. 2005, Chimpanzee Seq. Anal. Consort. 2005, Dennis & Eichler 2016, Lander et al. 2001), translocations, inversions (Cheng et al. 2005, Chimpanzee Seq. Anal. Consort. 2005, Newman et al. 2005), and transposable elements (Beck et al. 2011, Friedli & Trono 2015)] in human divergence and of amino acid conservation across different species (Bakewell et al. 2007, Sabeti et al. 2006, Vallender & Lahn 2004). Furthermore, genomic analyses suggest that 1.5% (~35 Mb) of the human genome is lineage specific (Chimpanzee Seq. Anal. Consort. 2005, McLean et al. 2011). Therefore, the association of human-specific genomic alterations with cognitive development is challenging, especially given that multiple mechanisms, including selective pressures and genetic drift in nonfunctional elements (Cheng et al. 2005, Siepel & Arbiza 2014), resulted in their formation. Moreover, both cognitive and social development are likely the result of many mutations, each with a small effect size, acting in unison (Olson & Varki 2003, Varki & Altheide 2005, Wittkopp & Kalay 2011). Although many strategies have been invoked to elucidate functional from nonfunctional evolutionary changes, this review leverages the strong statistical and biological power of relevant human disease mutations to prioritize the elements identified by comparative genomic studies of single-nucleotide changes.

Segmental Duplication and Divergent Gene Conversion in Neurodevelopment

Segmental duplications, though not the focus of this review, have revealed candidate genes for several human-specific traits, including social and cognitive functioning (Ciccarelli et al. 2005; Dennis et al. 2012, 2017; Paulding et al. 2003; Zhang 2003). Therefore, we suggest other articles for further reading on the topic (Sudmant et al. 2013), but we briefly mention three genetic changes with particular evidence relevant to brain development: DUF1220, BOLA2 (Sudmant et al. 2013), and SRGAP2C. DUF1220 represents one of the most extensive coding sequence expansions in the human genome (Popesco et al. 2006) and has been correlated with brain size and with potentially promoting neurogenesis (Dumas et al. 2012; Keeney et al. 2014, 2015; Popesco et al. 2006). BOLA2 is one of the most recent, human-specific segmental duplications and shows rapid fixation in the human lineage (Nuttle et al. 2016, Sudmant et al. 2013). SRGAP2C is a partially duplicated gene that disrupts the function of its ancestral gene, SRGAP2A (Figure 1a). In mouse models, SRGAP2A expression is implicated in neuronal migration, morphology (Guerrier et al. 2009), and dendritic spine maturation (Charrier et al. 2012), whereas disruption of SRGAP2C prolongs spine maturation and increases spine density (Charrier et al. 2012, Fossati et al. 2016). Thus, although the complexity of gene duplication makes it difficult to adduce statistical evidence and thresholds to quantitatively evaluate its role in cognitive evolution, further knowledge of the repetitive structure of primate genomes will likely further highlight it as an important mechanism.

EVOLUTION OF CODING REGIONS

Evolution of Neurodevelopmental Genes

When characterizing genomic differences between individuals, regardless of the species, the most commonly investigated sites are amino acids in protein-coding genes, which are generally conserved among similar species (Chimpanzee Seq. Anal. Consort. 2005, Rhesus Macaque Genome Seq. Anal. Consort. et al. 2007, Scally et al. 2012). This conservation enables researchers to use

the ratio of amino acid–altering mutations (i.e., nonsynonymous) to synonymous variants in a gene (Goldman & Yang 1994) to identify using quantitative metrics potential genes undergoing positive selection. Genome scans have revealed that as many as 15% of genes exhibit evidence of positive selection by this criterion, resulting in hundreds of potential candidate genes (Lindblad-Toh et al. 2011, Nielsen et al. 2005). Some of the best-characterized examples include neurodevelopmental



(Caption appears on following page)

Figure 1 (Figure appears on preceding page)

Clinically identified and candidate regions with evolutionarily intriguing sequence signatures. (*a*) Although not yet clinically linked to disease, SRGAP2C is a novel human-specific gene that in mouse models disrupts the function of its ancestral copy, SRGAP2A. The ancestral copy is associated with neuronal migration and neurite spine maturation in mice, whereas in humans it has been found within large deletions in children with developmental delays. (*b*–*d*) Sequences of genes that have clinical evidence for a significant effect on brain development. Panels *c* and *d* depict clinical phenotypes with deleterious variants in these regions; panel *b* illustrates a morphological difference observed in humanized mouse models of *FOXP2*. (*b*) Deleterious variants (*red*) in *FOXP2* are associated with language deficits, and human-specific sequences (*yellow*) in the gene are associated with increases in neurite and dendrite length in humanized mice. (*c*) Over 150 mutations in *ASPM* cause primary microcephaly. *ASPM* shows signs of accelerated evolution along the primate lineage. (*d*) Mutation in the e1m promoter of *GPR56* is associated with perisylvian polymicrogyria. Abbreviation: SNV, single nucleotide variant.

genes whose essential roles were first revealed in patients and were subsequently shown to exhibit signs of positive selection. Although many candidate positively selected genes lack known human disorders, those with clear associations to disease provide key insights into evolutionary changes affecting human biology.

Evolution of Human Speech and Possible Role of FOXP2

The best-known example of a positively selected gene linked to a behavioral disorder is perhaps forkhead box P2 transcription factor (*FOXP2*) (Ayub et al. 2013). *FOXP2* was first associated with development by researchers tracking a severe language and speech disorder in a large family with deficits in producing fine orofacial movements, word inflections, and syntax (Hurst et al. 1990, Lai et al. 2001). Despite verbal deficits, the average IQ of the affected individuals was similar to the population average. Affected individuals possessed a single missense variant (R553H) in *FOXP2* and the gene was also disrupted in an unrelated individual with similar language deficits (Lai et al. 2001).

Once identified, comparative genetics revealed three amino acid differences between the human and mouse FOXP2 orthologs, two of which diverge between humans and chimpanzees (Enard et al. 2002) (**Figure 1***b*). The rate of change is ~60 times the expected amino substitution rate (J.Z. Zhang et al. 2002); moreover, this change appears fixed in the human population (Lai et al. 2001, J.Z. Zhang et al. 2002). In other species requiring complex vocalization (e.g., echolocating bats), there appears to be divergent selection on FOXP2 based on sonar systems (Li et al. 2007). Interestingly, Denisovans and Neanderthals possess the same FOXP2 gene as humans do (Meyer et al. 2012, Noonan et al. 2006), suggesting either that Denisovans and Neanderthals possess the same potential for verbal communication or, more likely, that other coding and noncoding regions also contribute to language development.

Cell lines and animal models have confirmed the functional importance of *FOXP2* and the human-specific variants in language-associated phenotypes, including different transcriptional targets (Konopka et al. 2009) in humans and chimpanzees, humanized *FOXP2* mice with accelerated learning, changes in ultrasound vocalizations (Enard et al. 2009, Schreiweis et al. 2014), incomplete vocalizations in songbirds with *FOXP2* knockdown (Haesler et al. 2007), and severe vocalization and motor issues in mice with disrupted *FOXP2* (Fujita et al. 2008, Shu et al. 2005). Although *FOXP2* is widely expressed in the developing brain (Ferland et al. 2003), humanized and disease models suggest particularly strong effects in the corticobasal ganglia circuits and cerebellum. However, a portion of mutant knock-in mice experience premature death (Fujita et al. 2008) and adult mutant mice no longer exhibit different ultrasound vocalizations, potentially highlighting some limitations of the mouse model (Hammerschmidt et al. 2015). Despite this finding, the wealth of clinical, evolutionary, and functional data exemplifies how positive selection in genes, particularly transcription factors regulating expression, can drastically alter phenotypes.

Association of ASPM and the Centriole Complex to Human Brain Expansion

Similar to *FOXP2*, several genes implicated in microcephaly and neurodevelopment show signs of positive selection. One of the more prominent genes with signs of positive selection is *ASPM*. *ASPM* has been studied extensively in the context of both evolution and disease, specifically microcephaly (**Figure 1***c*).

The human ortholog of *ASPM* was first described for its association to microcephaly (Bond et al. 2002). Positional cloning of the *MCPH5* locus, which was strongly associated with microcephaly (Roberts et al. 2002), revealed four different homozygous premature stop codon mutations in *ASPM* across multiple, large, affected families (Bond et al. 2002). Subsequent clinical investigation has reported more than 150 disease-causing variants in *ASPM*, with most decreasing *ASPM* levels by introducing either premature stop codons or frameshift mutations that cause protein truncation or nonsense-mediated decay (Faheem et al. 2015, Stenson et al. 2017). *ASPM* encodes a centrosomal protein (Fish et al. 2006) that together with *WDR62*, the second-most common microcephaly gene, localizes to the mother centriole and is required for normal apical complex formation (Jayaraman et al. 2016). Knockdown and knockout mouse models have demonstrated that *ASPM* is necessary for maintaining the neuroprogenitor pool in the ventricular zone during brain development, affecting brain size (Fish et al. 2006).

In terms of positive evolutionary selection, the most consistent evidence has been across primates (Montgomery et al. 2011) and placental mammals (Montgomery & Mundy 2014). However, this sign of positive selection seems to apply to numerous microcephaly-associated loci, including *CDK5RAP2*, *MCPH1*, *CENP7*, *WDR62*, and *CEP152*. Remarkably, CDK5RAP2, ASPM, WDR62, CEP152, and CEP63, as well as other proteins encoded by microcephaly-associated genes, physically interact and assemble sequentially at the maternal centriole, suggesting that they may regulate neurogenesis through a common mechanism (Kodani et al. 2015). Sequence changes in *ASPM* and *CDK5RAP2* appear to be associated with changes in neonatal brain size across primates (Montgomery et al. 2011). Interestingly, even in outlier primate species, such as callitrichids, that have especially small brains among primates, changes in *ASPM* appear to correlate with decreases in brain size, suggesting selection on *ASPM*, as well as other microcephalycentrosomal genes, may serve as a general mechanism to influence brain size.

GENE REGULATION UNDERLYING BRAIN EVOLUTION

Role of Gene Regulation in the Evolution of Social and Cognitive Behavior

Although comparative and disease-related studies have focused on the important role of amino acid divergence during evolution, this divergence is widely regarded as insufficient to account for all human-specific social and cognitive functioning, brain size, and synaptic complexity. A hypothesis gaining more attention suggests that answers to phenotypic evolution might lie in the noncoding portion of the genome. This was postulated in early comparative genetics studies, originating from the observation that most genes between humans and chimpanzees were strikingly similar, and that the amount of protein sequence divergence did not seem to explain the phenotypic differences (King & Wilson 1975). These studies revealed extremely high amino acid conservation between humans and chimpanzees, in which 29% of proteins are identical and 71% have a median of two nonsynonymous (protein altering) and three synonymous (amino acid preserving) substitutions (Chimpanzee Seq. Anal. Consort. 2005). The similarity in protein sequence, along with functional consistency across organisms, pleiotropy, and the extensive role of regulatory noncoding sequence in gene regulation have been used to support the hypothesis that other regions (e.g., noncoding



Figure 2

Example of *Sbb* regulatory sequence mutations that have different clinical phenotypes depending on the enhancer affected. (*a*) Variants in the enhancer *Sbe2* are associated with a holoprosencephaly phenotype, and (*b*) mutations in the ZRS lead to a preaxial polydactyly phenotype in patients (in this case, the Cuban variant). Although these *Sbb* enhancers do not show signs of human-specific evolutionary selection, they illustrate more generally how changes to regulatory elements can lead to complex phenotypic outcomes, particularly if the regulatory element is acting on important developmental genes. Depicted on the right are corresponding changes in expression seen in mouse models of the *Sbb* enhancer variants. Development time points of mouse embryos are noted on the right (E10.5–11.5). Abbreviations: C > T, substitution of a cytosine with a thymine; E, embryonic day; *Sbe2*, *SHH* brain enhancer 2; *Sbb*, Sonic hedgehog; ZRS, zone of polarizing activity regulatory sequence.

functional elements) had an important role in the evolution of social and cognitive development in humans (Carroll 2008, Wray 2007).

Studies of human disease have linked alterations to regulatory regions to many complex biological functions. As a particularly instructive example, different types of mutations in regulatory sequences of the morphogen Sonic hedgehog (SHH) have been associated with several disorders. Deleterious mutations and truncations in the SHH gene cause holoprosencephaly (Roessler et al. 1996), and mutations affecting a neural SHH enhancer, SHH brain enhancer 2 (SBE2), located more than 400 kb away, cause a similar phenotype (Jeong et al. 2008) (Figure 2). When examined in transgenic mice, the enhancer point mutation significantly decreased activity (Figure 2a), resulting in reduced affinity for SIX3, a transcriptional regulator of SHH. Moreover, a mutant form of SIX3 associated with holoprosencephaly was unable to bind the wild-type enhancer SBE2 sequence (Jeong et al. 2008). Further increasing the complexity of enhancers is that mutations can have different effects depending on the tissue specificity of the enhancer. For instance, mutations in another enhancer of the same SHH gene, active in the limb bud, manifest as a polydactyly phenotype in patients (Lettice et al. 2003) (Figure 2b). Importantly, these loss-of-function mutations reflect but a small subset of possible types of changes that may affect regulatory sequences (Figure 3). So, this example, along with a range of other cases of regulatory sequences associated with disease (for a review, see Epstein 2009, Maston et al. 2006), has demonstrated the important roles of mutational alterations of regulatory sequences and the evolutionary complexity for which these elements allow.



Figure 3

Models of regulatory sequence changes and their effect on gene expression. (a-d) Changes in enhancer sequences. Enhancers promoting expression of a target gene (a) can have their activity altered by mutations in their sequence, with potential gain or loss of transcription factor–binding sites. This can lead to changes in activity such as (b) loss-of-function, (c) changes in target specificity, and (d) gain of silencing. (e-b) Changes in silencer sequences. Similar to changes in enhancer sequences, for silencers (e) mutations leading to protein binding sites can lead to (f) loss of silencing, (g) change of repressor target, or (b) gain of enhancer activity.

Primate-Specific *GPR56* Gene Promoter Involved in Regulating Gyrification in Humans

However, given that millions of putative regulatory elements in humans have been identified (ENCODE Proj. Consort. 2012, Roadmap Epigenomics Consort. et al. 2015, Zhu et al. 2013), selecting noncoding sequences involved in human-specific developmental processes has been immensely challenging. In this regard, assessing mutations in clinical cases of relevant neurodevelopmental disorders and then overlaying them with evolutionary data is a powerful tool to narrow down functionally important elements. One recent example is an alternative promoter of the *GPR56* gene. *GPR56* is a G protein–coupled receptor required for normal cortical development (Piao et al. 2004). Its expression levels have been associated with the regulation of progenitor proliferation. Prior clinical cases have demonstrated that loss-of-function mutations in *GPR56* cause polymicrogyria by affecting the entire neocortex (bilateral frontoparietal polymicrogyria)

(Bahi-Buisson et al. 2010, Piao et al. 2004). Loss of *GPR56* disrupts radial glia and causes breaches in pial basement membrane; as a result, neurons either over- or undermigrate in different regions, leading to irregular cortical layers.

Bae et al. (2014) examined more than 1,000 individuals with gyral abnormalities, from which they identified 5 individuals from 3 families who shared strikingly similar disruption restricted to a cortical area surrounding the Sylvian fissure and including the primary language area (Broca's area). Upon linkage analysis and sequencing, the researchers discovered that the 5 patients shared a homozygous 15-base pair deletion mutation in the promoter of e1m, a noncoding exon of *GPR56* (**Figure 1***d*). Transgenic mouse models demonstrated that this mutation led to the loss of gene expression in the lateral cortex and the lateral ganglionic eminence, which mimics the *GPR56* loss phenotype in these regions. Moreover, the 300-base pair region that contained the site of the mutation possessed species-specific regulatory activity, so that when inserted into transgenic mice, the sequence from a range of mammalian species drove different expression patterns (Bae et al. 2014), suggesting an example of an evolutionarily divergent noncoding element with essential developmental functions in controlling regional cortical development in humans.

CIS-ACTING REGULATORY ELEMENTS IN NEURAL DEVELOPMENT

Using Evolutionary Signatures to Enrich for Functional Enhancer Elements

One of the most widely used analyses for identifying functional regulatory regions in the genome involves examining levels of sequence conservation across vertebrates, including humans (Pennacchio & Rubin 2001). Much like with coding sequences, the conservation of noncoding sequences across species suggests that these elements may have some function that would be disrupted by mutations. Using this approach, early studies identified many conserved functional regulatory elements, including neurodevelopmental enhancers (de la Calle-Mustienes et al. 2005, Nobrega et al. 2003, Prabhakar et al. 2006, Visel et al. 2008, Woolfe et al. 2005).

Although sequence conservation has helped identify many regulatory elements, elements contributing to human-specific traits require investigation of regions where conservation is not maintained among humans and other species. The most dramatic example would be human-specific deletions, which include approximately 13.5 million base pairs (Sudmant et al. 2013). Within primates and other species, olfactory- and immune-related genes are most frequently lost and gained, owing in part to instability caused by large clusters of gene families. In terms of human-specific deletions, many candidates exist but few have been functionally linked to a specific trait.

One challenge to studying human-specific deletions affecting genes and regulatory elements is the reliance on less complete genome assemblies of nonhuman species (Alkan et al. 2011, Rogers & Gibbs 2014, Zhang et al. 2012). Despite this challenge, several regulatory regions, including two deletions affecting an enhancer of the human androgen receptor (AR) gene and an enhancer of the tumor suppressor gene growth arrest and DNA-damage-inducible gamma (GADD45G), have been identified. The loss of the AR enhancer raises fascinating hypotheses regarding sexual evolution, as it is associated with the loss of sensory vibrissae and penile spine (McLean et al. 2011, Reno et al. 2013). However, with respect to brain development, the deletion of the GADD45Genhancer is particularly interesting. GADD45G encodes a DNA methylase that represses the cell cycle repressor and induces apoptosis (Zerbini et al. 2004). Somatic loss of GADD45G is strongly associated with tissue growth in human pituitary adenomas, with many pituitary tumors having decreased GADD45G expression (Binse et al. 2014, X. Zhang et al. 2002). Although further characterization is necessary, it raises the possibility that a change of GADD45G expression may be relevant to cell proliferation in human brain development.

Identification of Elements with Accelerated Primate–Human Divergence

An alternative approach to identify elements contributing to human-specific traits focuses on sequences that show conservation across species but accelerated sequence divergence along the human lineage. This enriches for regulatory elements that have undergone recent evolutionary changes at the nucleotide level in humans, possibly resulting in altered activity, conversion to a different mechanism (e.g., enhancer to silencer), or changes in tissue specificity. Such human-specific changes would theoretically affect unique human traits arising concurrently with the mutation. One class of such elements is known as human accelerated regions (HARs). HARs are genomic segments that are highly conserved in many mammals but show unusually high (accelerated) divergence between humans and other mammals; hence, they are thought to represent potential targets of recent evolutionary selection of *Homo sapiens* (Lindblad-Toh et al. 2011; Pollard et al. 2006a,b).

In 2006 Pollard et al. (2006a) leveraged human and primate genome assemblies to calculate selective pressures and conservation of genomic loci to prioritize regions with a divergence greater than that predicted by a neutral mutation rate in humans, thus suggesting the potential for positive selection and novel functions. Since the release of the first map of HARs by Pollard et al. (2006a,b), several studies have identified accelerated coding and noncoding regions (Bird et al. 2007, Bush & Lahn 2008, Gittelman et al. 2015, Lindblad-Toh et al. 2011, Prabhakar et al. 2008). The most recent approach utilized additional markers for functional regulatory sequences, such as DNase hypersensitivity sites to select functional human accelerated sites, revealing that up to 70% of their substitutions are the result of positive selection (Gittelman et al. 2015). However, HARs identified in each study often do not overlap each other, with few loci shared across the studies (Bird et al. 2007, Capra et al. 2013, Doan et al. 2016, Gittelman et al. 2015). The lack of congruency among HARs identified in different studies is likely due partly to incomplete high-quality vertebrate genome assemblies, including that of nonhuman primates, available at the time of each study.

Properties of HARs

Despite the differing methods of identification and a lack of congruency, HARs as a group exhibit many features that suggest involvement in neurodevelopmental alterations that occurred in the human lineage. The depletion of HARs in promoter regions and the enrichment within 50-500 kb from transcriptional start sites suggest a long-distance cis-acting regulatory mechanism (Capra et al. 2013, Doan et al. 2016). Furthermore, HARs are preferentially located proximal to genes enriched for neuronal processes, brain development, transcription, neuronal cell adhesion, and axon processes, which are sensitive to gene dosage, as indicated by loss-of-function intolerance data (Lek et al. 2016) and haploinsufficiency scores (Capra et al. 2013, Doan et al. 2016, N. Huang et al. 2010, Prabhakar et al. 2008). Similar proximal enrichment to neural genes has been observed in several studies linking noncoding variants, though not HARs specifically, to neuropsychiatric disorders including schizophrenia, attention deficit hyperactivity disorder, and intellectual disability (Devlin & Scherer 2012, ENCODE Proj. Consort. 2012, Haraksingh & Snyder 2013, Lee & Young 2013, Makrythanasis et al. 2012, Maurano et al. 2012, Nair & Howard 2013, Ward & Kellis 2012). Interestingly, it is estimated that 58% of HAR-gene interactions do not include flanking genes but instead distant genes as far as 1 Mb away (Doan et al. 2016, Goh et al. 2012, Heidari et al. 2014, Li et al. 2012, Lieberman-Aiden et al. 2009), suggesting that although proximity is often a good predictor of target genes, additional global mapping of chromatin interactions with Hi-C sequencing (Lieberman-Aiden et al. 2009) and chromatin interaction analysis with paired-end tag sequencing (ChIA-PET) (Fullwood et al. 2010; Li et al. 2010, 2012) will further expand our functional understanding of HARs.

Regulatory potential is often correlated with the presence and density of transcription factor (TF)-binding motifs (Crowley et al. 1997, Harbison et al. 2004, Heintzman et al. 2007, Wasserman & Sandelin 2004). In order for HARs to exhibit species-specific regulatory functions, the humanspecific nucleotides must affect essential motifs in such a way that their activity would be altered in neural cell types during neural development. Several studies have shown an enrichment of TFbinding motifs in HARs (Capra et al. 2013, Doan et al. 2016, Pollard et al. 2006a) and a significant increase in their density, resulting in clusters of motifs (Doan et al. 2016). In support of a role in neurogenesis, binding motifs for neural development-associated TFs such as myocyte enhancer factor 2A (MEF2A) and SRY-related HMG-box gene 2 (SOX2) are highly enriched in HARs (Doan et al. 2016). SOX2 is essential for the renewal of neural progenitors (Ferri et al. 2004, Kelberman et al. 2008), and when expression is reduced, neural progenitors differentiate into neurons. Interestingly, several enriched TFs identified by Doan et al. (2016) have roles as transcriptional repressors, based on annotations present in the TRANScription FACtor (TRANSFAC) database, suggesting that some HARs may be *cis*-acting transcriptional silencers, not enhancers. Although less is known about silencers, they act through a mechanism similar to that of enhancers except that bound TFs block or inhibit transcription of the target gene (Maston et al. 2006, Ogbourne & Antalis 1998). Moreover, human-specific nucleotides alter TF-binding motifs by creating or removing sites for TFs essential for neural development, splicing regulation, and neural differentiation, such as REST, CTCF, and NFIA, illuminating possible mechanisms behind their proposed human-specific functions (Doan et al. 2016).

The role of HARs as regulatory sequences is also supported by the distance between HARs and their closest genes and by their enrichment for CTCF binding, suggesting the predominant mechanism relies on physical looping between gene promoters and distant HARs (Capra et al. 2013, Doan et al. 2016). Although HAR1, the first studied HAR, encodes a human-specific non-coding RNA expressed in Cajal–Retzius neurons (Pollard et al. 2006a,b), subsequent examinations of HARs have focused primarily on their role as enhancers. The first epigenomic evidence for a biological role of HARs in human behavior and brain development was based on their marks of regulatory activity, with up to 50% of HARs believed to exhibit active regulatory functions in neural tissues (Doan et al. 2016), including many associated with developmental roles (Capra et al. 2013). In further support of functional roles of variation within HARs, there appears to be a significant correlation between HapMap2 single nucleotide polymorphisms (SNPs) and differences in gene expression for 16% of variants in HARs (Bird et al. 2007), suggesting that mutations in HARs through either evolution or disease could alter gene expression.

Functional Validation of Regulatory Activity of HARs

Although the combination of human disease and epigenetic and comparative genomic screening has led to the identification of over 3,000 HARs, further functional studies are necessary to understand their biological role. Amino acid–altering mutations often result in loss- or gain-of-function, but regulatory regions and their mutations have a much greater complexity in their functional role. Noncoding elements have the potential to regulate multiple genes in different tissues while acting as either enhancers or silencers of gene transcription (**Figure 3***a*,*e*). Moreover, when the elements are mutated, the cell specificity can be altered, causing aberrant expression in the same or new tissues (**Figure 3***b*–*d*,*f*–*b*). Because mutations in these elements cannot always be simply classified as pure loss-of-function, breakthrough technologies such as massively parallel reporter assays (Melnikov et al. 2012) and self-transcribing regulatory region sequencing (Arnold et al. 2013) have allowed for the functional interrogation of thousands of DNA regulatory fragments. The difficulties and low-throughput nature of in vitro and in vivo functional analyses have limited

Annu. Rev. Neurosci. 2018.41:185-206. Downloaded from www.annualreviews.org Access provided by Harvard University on 09/04/18. For personal use only.



Figure 4

Examples of regulatory sequence changes and species-specific expression profile changes. (*a–c*) Examples of species-specific sequence differences in human accelerated regions (HARs) and their impact on expression patterns in reporter mouse models. Development time points of mouse embryos are noted on the right (E11.5–12.5). Abbreviations: E, embryonic day; Hs, *Homo sapiens* (human); Mm, *Mus musculus* (mouse); Pt, *Pan troglodytes* (chimpanzee).

the number of HARs with additional functional characterization (Boyd et al. 2015, Capra et al. 2013, Doan et al. 2016, Gittelman et al. 2015, Oksenberg & Ahituv 2013, Oksenberg et al. 2013). However, HARs that have been validated have demonstrated several drastic impacts on activity from just a few human-specific nucleotides (Boyd et al. 2015, Capra et al. 2013, Gittelman et al. 2015, Shibata et al. 2012). The human-specific changes not only altered expression levels but also, in some cases, changed the anatomical regions of gene expression (Capra et al. 2013).

One of these candidate HARs, 2xHAR142, is near the *NPAS3* gene (Kamm et al. 2013a) (Figure 4b). *NPAS3* encodes a member of the basic helix-loop-helix transcription factor family (Brunskill et al. 1999), and it is linked to roles in brain development and synaptic function in knockout mice (Brunskill et al. 2005, Erbel-Sieler et al. 2004). In humans, *NPAS3* is expressed in the fetal brain during the three trimesters, with changing spatial patterns of nuclear activity in the ventricular zone, hippocampus, cerebellum, and maturing neocortex (Gould & Kamnasaran 2011). It has also been associated with a risk for schizophrenia and bipolar disorders in family-based studies (Kamnasaran et al. 2003), cohort studies (Pickard et al. 2008), and genome-wide association studies (GWAS) (J. Huang et al. 2010). In terms of evolutionary selection, what makes *NPAS3* particularly interesting is that it has more than 14 HARs in its proximity, making it the densest HAR-surrounded locus in the genome (Kamm et al. 2013b).

In transgenic mouse models, HAR 2xHAR142 was examined and the human sequence exhibited broad activity early in development, at embryonic day (E) 10.5 and E12.5 in the hindbrain, midbrain, and forebrain (Kamm et al. 2013a). From E12.5 to E14.5, forebrain expression is predominantly in regions of the developing cortex, hippocampus, ventral thalamus, and hypothalamus, whereas midbrain and hindbrain expression is more restricted. In comparison, the mouse and chimp sequences differed in activity pattern, particularly a lack of activity in the developing forebrain (Kamm et al. 2013a). In fact, the expression patterns of the mouse and chimp sequences were more similar to each other than they were to the human version of 2xHAR142. This result suggests that mutations in HARs may not act solely by changing expression levels, but may in fact alter the regions and timing of gene expression in accordance with the changes in the TF-binding sites. Although further functional characterization is necessary, the *NPAS3* locus and its density of HARs, demonstration of human-specific activity in the reporter mouse model, and association to neuropsychiatric disorders make it a promising candidate for understanding human-specific differences in brain development (Kamm et al. 2013b).

Despite the progress made in identifying expression changes, translating reporter assays and potential regulatory changes into functional impact has been particularly difficult, especially as genes are often regulated by multiple enhancers. This form of regulation often leads to significant redundancy. However, recent studies have identified particularly illuminating cases of noncoding evolutionary changes that have functional impact on brain development. One of these studies involves HARE5, a HAR that acts as an enhancer for FZD8, a Wnt signaling receptor. The HARE5 locus is 12 kb in length and has 16 base pair differences between the human and the chimp sequences (Figure 4a). Ten of these mutations are fixed in the human branch and 6 mutations are fixed in the chimpanzee branch since the divergence from our last common ancestor (Boyd et al. 2015). On the basis of the sequence divergence, TF binding is predicted to be affected, particularly at the human-derived sites, with the sequence predicted to have gained binding sites for myc and lost binding sites for myc repressors. HARE5 interacts directly with a core promoter of FZD8 that is ~ 305 kb away, and its regulatory activity is confirmed by reporter assays, recapitulating FZD8 activity patterns. Interestingly, when chimpanzee and human HARE5 sequences were tested in LacZ transgenic mice, the human-specific element showed significantly stronger and tighter expression in the lateral telencephalon beginning at E10 (Boyd et al. 2015). The chimpanzee sequence, although overall spatially similar in terms of expression, induced a more diffuse and weaker expression profile.

Functionally, HARE5 seems to affect neural progenitor cells. Both chimpanzee and human enhancers were active in most Pax6-positive neuroepithelial cells, with a smaller portion active in TuJ1-positive neurons at E10.5, and these enhancers appear active in the ventricular zone at E12.5. Furthermore, in transgenic mice in which human HARE5 drove *FZD8* expression, there was increased cell cycling in neural progenitors and more FoxP1-positive neurons. An analysis of E18.5 transgenic mice in which the *FZD8* gene is controlled by either the human or the chimpanzee HARE5 sequence showed an increase in cortical size of ~12% due to the human-specific alleles (Boyd et al. 2015). This change in brain size consisted of an increase in tangential length rather than cortical layer thickening, similar to cases of β -catenin (Chenn & Walsh 2002), further supporting a progenitor proliferation mechanism. Although further work is necessary to demonstrate function in the human brain, the study by Boyd et al. (2015) demonstrates the potential functional role that some HARs may have in neurodevelopment.

As an orthogonal approach, recent comparative epigenomic analyses have examined the enhancers in the developing (Reilly et al. 2015) and adult (Vermunt et al. 2016) brain, as well as induced pluripotent stem cell (iPSC)-derived neural crest cells (Prescott et al. 2015). These studies have generated sets of promising candidates that appear to display species-specific activity, particularly given the tissue-specific activity used to identify the elements. In bulk sequencing approaches, observed human-specific differences in enhancer activity can sometimes be due to a mix of enhancer activity differences and cell population changes across species (Vermunt et al. 2016); however, in all three studies (Prescott et al. 2015, Reilly et al. 2015, Vermunt et al. 2016) HARs appear as candidates. As comparative epigenomics rapidly improves, particularly in its ability to capture cell specificity and diversity, the use of histone mark–based chromatin immunoprecipitation sequencing to find conservation will provide researchers a powerful method for uncovering species-specific enhancers, proving valuable for both assessing enhancers derived from conservation-based methods and identifying enhancers that are not well conserved and hence would be missed by traditional comparative genomic methods. Together with the expansion of iPSC-derived in vitro models with respect to cell type diversity as well as the number of nonhuman mammals (particularly primates), these methods may provide insightful tools to study comparative epigenomics in organisms that have been traditionally difficult to study.

Role of HARs in Social and Cognitive Development from Studies of Autism Spectrum Disorder and Schizophrenia

As demonstrated throughout this review, one of the best tools for mapping elements to their function is by studying relevant human phenotypes and their underlying mutations. However, studies are just beginning to utilize large-scale sequencing and SNP array data to assess HARs in neurological disorders. Early studies provided some clues to their roles in autism spectrum disorder (ASD) and schizophrenia. Oksenberg and colleagues (Oksenberg & Ahituv 2013, Oksenberg et al. 2013) confirmed the existence of enhancers within noncoding HARs of AUTS2, a gene linked to ASD, and postulated that mutations in these elements might contribute to risk of ASD (Figure 4c). Taking a GWAS approach, Xu et al. (2015) revealed that genes associated with HARs are enriched for loci with significant associations to schizophrenia. Furthermore, GABAergic and glutamatergic genes were enriched among the HAR-associated schizophrenia genes. Interestingly, HAR-associated genes were enriched for processes involved in synaptic formation, and exhibited a higher connectivity to regulatory networks in the prefrontal cortex (Xu et al. 2015). By directly identifying highly penetrant risk alleles in ASD, Doan et al. (2016) sequenced a cohort of consanguineous families with ASD whose diagnoses could not be accounted for by underlying coding region mutations or copy number variants. Using an approach similar to those widely used in large-scale de novo exome and genome studies of ASD, this study provided the first evidence that mutational excess of recessively acting point mutations in HARs has a role in ASD. These HAR mutations were suggested to alter essential pathways that regulate brain development such as gene splicing, synaptogenesis, and others, including MEF2C, CDKL5, PTBP2, and GPC4, with known association to ASD and intellectual disability (ID) (Doan et al. 2016). With a combination of transient transgenic mice and luciferase assays, Doan et al. (2016) showed an interaction of HAR426 with the promoter of CUX1, a gene that regulates dendritic spine density in a dosage-sensitive fashion in mice (Cubelos & Nieto 2010; Cubelos et al. 2010, 2014). Furthermore, HAR426 has in vitro and in vivo enhancer activity, and a mutation in HAR426 found in several individuals with ASD or ID results in increased enhancer activity (Doan et al. 2016). Therefore, mutations in HAR426 may affect synaptic complexity through overexpression of CUX1, which alters dendritic spines in mice. Although these studies provide an intriguing insight into several interesting HARs, the data supporting their roles need much additional work. Moreover, these studies do not distinguish the strength of the effects of the mutations in HARs, whether they are low-penetrance risk alleles, or whether they are highly penetrant alleles with the potential for Mendelian conditions. Furthermore, as the study leveraged the elevated rates of recessive disease in consanguineous families, it has yet to be shown whether such a contribution exists in other populations or whether other mutational classes such as de novo point mutations have a role.

CONCLUSIONS

Our understanding of the biological basis of evolutionary changes in human social and cognitive functioning has dramatically increased owing to recent breakthroughs in whole-genome sequencing of hundreds of species and tens of thousands of human genomes, including those in both healthy individuals and individuals with neurological disorders. Although the question of what makes us human remains unsolved, the combination of human disease genetics and comparative genomics has revealed important contributions by amino acid–altering coding mutations in genes such as those involved in neural development and brain size. Moreover, the discovery of disease-associated mutations in both promoters and HARs provides intriguing new elements with strong functional ties to brain development. Through limited studies HARs have already been linked to synaptic complexity, brain size, and social and cognitive disorders such as ASD and schizophrenia. Together, each evolutionarily distinct genomic coding and noncoding region in humans provides key pieces to the puzzle of why humans possess such unique social and cognitive abilities and behaviors.

DISCLOSURE STATEMENT

The authors are not aware of any other affiliations, memberships, funding, or financial holdings that might be perceived as affecting the objectivity of this review.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The authors are grateful to Abbe Lai for artwork in the figures. Research is supported by grants from the National Institute of Mental Health (RC2MH089952 and RO1MH083565) and from the Allen Discovery Center for Human Brain Evolution at Boston Children's Hospital and Harvard Medical School. C.A.W. is an Investigator of the Howard Hughes Medical Institute.

LITERATURE CITED

- Alkan C, Sajjadian S, Eichler EE. 2011. Limitations of next-generation genome sequence assembly. Nat. Methods 8:61–65
- Arnold CD, Gerlach D, Stelzer C, Boryn LM, Rath M, Stark A. 2013. Genome-wide quantitative enhancer activity maps identified by STARR-seq. Science 339:1074–77
- Ayub Q, Yngvadottir B, Chen Y, Xue Y, Hu M, et al. 2013. FOXP2 targets show evidence of positive selection in European populations. Am. 7. Hum. Genet. 92:696–706
- Bae BI, Tietjen I, Atabay KD, Evrony GD, Johnson MB, et al. 2014. Evolutionarily dynamic alternative splicing of GPR56 regulates regional cerebral cortical patterning. *Science* 343:764–68
- Bahi-Buisson N, Poirier K, Boddaert N, Fallet-Bianco C, Specchio N, et al. 2010. GPR56-related bilateral frontoparietal polymicrogyria: further evidence for an overlap with the cobblestone complex. *Brain* 133:3194–209
- Bakewell MA, Shi P, Zhang J. 2007. More genes underwent positive selection in chimpanzee evolution than in human evolution. PNAS 104:7489–94
- Beck CR, Garcia-Perez JL, Badge RM, Moran JV. 2011. LINE-1 elements in structural variation and disease. Annu. Rev. Genom. Hum. Genet. 12:187–215
- Binse I, Ueberberg B, Sandalcioglu IE, Flitsch J, Luedecke DK, et al. 2014. Expression analysis of GADD45γ, MEG3, and p8 in pituitary adenomas. *Horm. Metab. Res.* 46:644–50

- Bird CP, Stranger BE, Liu M, Thomas DJ, Ingle CE, et al. 2007. Fast-evolving noncoding sequences in the human genome. *Genome Biol.* 8:R118
- Bond J, Roberts E, Mochida GH, Hampshire DJ, Scott S, et al. 2002. ASPM is a major determinant of cerebral cortical size. *Nat. Genet.* 32:316–20
- Boyd JL, Skove SL, Rouanet JP, Pilaz LJ, Bepler T, et al. 2015. Human-chimpanzee differences in a FZD8 enhancer alter cell-cycle dynamics in the developing neocortex. Curr. Biol. 25:772–79
- Brunskill EW, Ehrman LA, Williams MT, Klanke J, Hammer D, et al. 2005. Abnormal neurodevelopment, neurosignaling and behaviour in Npas3-deficient mice. *Eur. J. Neurosci.* 22:1265–76
- Brunskill EW, Witte DP, Shreiner AB, Potter SS. 1999. Characterization of Npas3, a novel basic helix-loophelix PAS gene expressed in the developing mouse nervous system. Mech. Dev. 88:237–41
- Bush EC, Lahn BT. 2008. A genome-wide screen for noncoding elements important in primate evolution. BMC Evol. Biol. 8:17
- Capra JA, Erwin GD, McKinsey G, Rubenstein JL, Pollard KS. 2013. Many human accelerated regions are developmental enhancers. *Philos. Trans. R. Soc. B* 368:20130025
- Carroll SB. 2008. Evo-devo and an expanding evolutionary synthesis: a genetic theory of morphological evolution. *Cell* 134:25–36
- Charrier C, Joshi K, Coutinho-Budd J, Kim JE, Lambert N, et al. 2012. Inhibition of SRGAP2 function by its human-specific paralogs induces neoteny during spine maturation. *Cell* 149:923–35
- Cheng Z, Ventura M, She X, Khaitovich P, Graves T, et al. 2005. A genome-wide comparison of recent chimpanzee and human segmental duplications. *Nature* 437:88–93
- Chenn A, Walsh CA. 2002. Regulation of cerebral cortical size by control of cell cycle exit in neural precursors. Science 297:365–69
- Chimpanzee Seq. Anal. Consort. 2005. Initial sequence of the chimpanzee genome and comparison with the human genome. *Nature* 437:69–87
- Ciccarelli FD, von Mering C, Suyama M, Harrington ED, Izaurralde E, Bork P. 2005. Complex genomic rearrangements lead to novel primate gene function. *Genome Res.* 15:343–51
- Crowley EM, Roeder K, Bina M. 1997. A statistical model for locating regulatory regions in genomic DNA. J. Mol. Biol. 268:8–14
- Cubelos B, Briz CG, Esteban-Ortega GM, Nieto M. 2014. Cux1 and Cux2 selectively target basal and apical dendritic compartments of layer II-III cortical neurons. Dev. Neurobiol. 75:163–72
- Cubelos B, Nieto M. 2010. Intrinsic programs regulating dendrites and synapses in the upper layer neurons of the cortex. *Commun. Integr. Biol.* 3:483–86
- Cubelos B, Sebastián-Serrano A, Beccari L, Calcagnotto ME, Cisneros E, et al. 2010. *Cux1* and *Cux2* regulate dendritic branching, spine morphology, and synapses of the upper layer neurons of the cortex. *Neuron* 66:523–35
- de la Calle-Mustienes E, Feijóo CG, Manzanares M, Tena JJ, Rodríguez-Seguel E, et al. 2005. A functional survey of the enhancer activity of conserved non-coding sequences from vertebrate Iroquois cluster gene deserts. *Genome Res.* 15:1061–72
- Deaner RO, Isler K, Burkart J, van Schaik C. 2007. Overall brain size, and not encephalization quotient, best predicts cognitive ability across non-human primates. *Brain Behav. Evol.* 70:115–24
- Dennis MY, Eichler EE. 2016. Human adaptation and evolution by segmental duplication. Curr. Opin. Genet. Dev. 41:44–52
- Dennis MY, Harshman L, Nelson BJ, Penn O, Cantsilieris S, et al. 2017. The evolution and population diversity of human-specific segmental duplications. *Nat. Ecol. Evol.* 1:0069
- Dennis MY, Nuttle X, Sudmant PH, Antonacci F, Graves TA, et al. 2012. Evolution of human-specific neural SRGAP2 genes by incomplete segmental duplication. Cell 149:912–22
- Devlin B, Scherer SW. 2012. Genetic architecture in autism spectrum disorder. *Curr. Opin. Genet. Dev.* 22:229–37
- Doan RN, Bae BI, Cubelos B, Chang C, Hossain AA, et al. 2016. Mutations in human accelerated regions disrupt cognition and social behavior. *Cell* 167:341–54
- Dumas LJ, O'Bleness MS, Davis JM, Dickens CM, Anderson N, et al. 2012. DUF1220-domain copy number implicated in human brain-size pathology and evolution. Am. 7. Hum. Genet. 91:444–54

- Enard W, Gehre S, Hammerschmidt K, Holter SM, Blass T, et al. 2009. A humanized version of Foxp2 affects cortico-basal ganglia circuits in mice. *Cell* 137:961–71
- Enard W, Przeworski M, Fisher SE, Lai CS, Wiebe V, et al. 2002. Molecular evolution of *FOXP2*, a gene involved in speech and language. *Nature* 418:869–72
- ENCODE Proj. Consort. 2012. An integrated encyclopedia of DNA elements in the human genome. Nature 489:57–74
- Epstein DJ. 2009. Cis-regulatory mutations in human disease. Brief Funct. Genom. Proteom. 8:310-16
- Erbel-Sieler C, Dudley C, Zhou Y, Wu X, Estill SJ, et al. 2004. Behavioral and regulatory abnormalities in mice deficient in the NPAS1 and NPAS3 transcription factors. PNAS 101:13648–53
- Faheem M, Naseer MI, Rasool M, Chaudhary AG, Kumosani TA, et al. 2015. Molecular genetics of human primary microcephaly: an overview. BMC Med. Genom. 8(Suppl. 1):S4
- Ferland RJ, Cherry TJ, Preware PO, Morrisey EE, Walsh CA. 2003. Characterization of Foxp2 and Foxp1 mRNA and protein in the developing and mature brain. J. Comp. Neurol. 460:266–79
- Ferri AL, Cavallaro M, Braida D, Di Cristofano A, Canta A, et al. 2004. Sox2 deficiency causes neurodegeneration and impaired neurogenesis in the adult mouse brain. *Development* 131:3805–19
- Fish JL, Kosodo Y, Enard W, Paabo S, Huttner WB. 2006. Aspm specifically maintains symmetric proliferative divisions of neuroepithelial cells. PNAS 103:10438–43
- Fossati M, Pizzarelli R, Schmidt ER, Kupferman JV, Stroebel D, et al. 2016. SRGAP2 and its human-specific paralog co-regulate the development of excitatory and inhibitory synapses. Neuron 91:356–69
- Friedli M, Trono D. 2015. The developmental control of transposable elements and the evolution of higher species. Annu. Rev. Cell Dev. Biol. 31:429–51
- Fujita E, Tanabe Y, Shiota A, Ueda M, Suwa K, et al. 2008. Ultrasonic vocalization impairment of Foxp2 (R552H) knockin mice related to speech-language disorder and abnormality of Purkinje cells. PNAS 105:3117–22
- Fullwood MJ, Han Y, Wei CL, Ruan X, Ruan Y. 2010. Chromatin interaction analysis using paired-end tag sequencing. Curr. Protoc. Mol. Biol. 89:21.15
- Gittelman RM, Hun E, Ay F, Madeoy J, Pennacchio L, et al. 2015. Comprehensive identification and analysis of human accelerated regulatory DNA. *Genome Res.* 25:1245–55
- Goh Y, Fullwood MJ, Poh HM, Peh SQ, Ong CT, et al. 2012. Chromatin interaction analysis with pairedend tag sequencing (ChIA-PET) for mapping chromatin interactions and understanding transcription regulation. *J. Vis. Exp.* 62:3770
- Goldman N, Yang Z. 1994. A codon-based model of nucleotide substitution for protein-coding DNA sequences. *Mol. Biol. Evol.* 11:725–36
- Gould P, Kamnasaran D. 2011. Immunohistochemical analyses of NPAS3 expression in the developing human fetal brain. Anat. Histol. Embryol. 40:196–203
- Guerrier S, Coutinho-Budd J, Sassa T, Gresset A, Jordan NV, et al. 2009. The F-BAR domain of srGAP2 induces membrane protrusions required for neuronal migration and morphogenesis. *Cell* 138:990–1004
- Haesler S, Rochefort C, Georgi B, Licznerski P, Osten P, Scharff C. 2007. Incomplete and inaccurate vocal imitation after knockdown of FoxP2 in songbird basal ganglia nucleus Area X. *PLOS Biol.* 5:e321
- Hammerschmidt K, Schreiweis C, Minge C, Paabo S, Fischer J, Enard W. 2015. A humanized version of Foxp2 does not affect ultrasonic vocalization in adult mice. *Genes Brain Behav.* 14:583–90
- Haraksingh RR, Snyder MP. 2013. Impacts of variation in the human genome on gene regulation. J. Mol. Biol. 425:3970–77
- Harbison CT, Gordon DB, Lee TI, Rinaldi NJ, Macisaac KD, et al. 2004. Transcriptional regulatory code of a eukaryotic genome. *Nature* 431:99–104
- Hauser MD, Chomsky N, Fitch WT. 2002. The faculty of language: What is it, who has it, and how did it evolve? *Science* 298:1569–79
- Heidari N, Phanstiel DH, He C, Grubert F, Jahanbani F, et al. 2014. Genome-wide map of regulatory interactions in the human genome. *Genome Res.* 24:1905–17
- Heintzman ND, Stuart RK, Hon G, Fu Y, Ching CW, et al. 2007. Distinct and predictive chromatin signatures of transcriptional promoters and enhancers in the human genome. *Nat. Genet.* 39:311–18
- Heldstab SA, Kosonen ZK, Koski SE, Burkart JM, van Schaik CP, Isler K. 2016. Manipulation complexity in primates coevolved with brain size and terrestriality. Sci. Rep. 6:24528

- Huang J, Perlis RH, Lee PH, Rush AJ, Fava M, et al. 2010. Cross-disorder genomewide analysis of schizophrenia, bipolar disorder, and depression. Am. J. Psychiatry 167:1254–63
- Huang N, Lee I, Marcotte EM, Hurles ME. 2010. Characterising and predicting haploinsufficiency in the human genome. PLOS Genet. 6:e1001154
- Hurst JA, Baraitser M, Auger E, Graham F, Norell S. 1990. An extended family with a dominantly inherited speech disorder. Dev. Med. Child Neurol. 32:352–55
- Jayaraman D, Kodani A, Gonzalez DM, Mancias JD, Mochida GH, et al. 2016. Microcephaly proteins Wdr62 and Aspm define a mother centriole complex regulating centriole biogenesis, apical complex, and cell fate. *Neuron* 92:813–28
- Jeong Y, Leskow FC, El-Jaick K, Roessler E, Muenke M, et al. 2008. Regulation of a remote Shh forebrain enhancer by the Six3 homeoprotein. *Nat. Genet.* 40:1348–53
- Kamm GB, López-Leal R, Lorenzo JR, Franchini LF. 2013a. A fast-evolving human NPAS3 enhancer gained reporter expression in the developing forebrain of transgenic mice. *Philos. Trans. R. Soc. B* 368:20130019
- Kamm GB, Pisciottano F, Kliger R, Franchini LF. 2013b. The developmental brain gene *NPAS3* contains the largest number of accelerated regulatory sequences in the human genome. *Mol. Biol. Evol.* 30:1088–102
- Kamnasaran D, Muir WJ, Ferguson-Smith MA, Cox DW. 2003. Disruption of the neuronal PAS3 gene in a family affected with schizophrenia. J. Med. Genet. 40:325–32
- Keeney JG, Davis JM, Siegenthaler J, Post MD, Nielsen BS, et al. 2015. DUF1220 protein domains drive proliferation in human neural stem cells and are associated with increased cortical volume in anthropoid primates. *Brain Struct. Funct.* 220:3053–60
- Keeney JG, Dumas L, Sikela JM. 2014. The case for DUF1220 domain dosage as a primary contributor to anthropoid brain expansion. *Front. Hum. Neurosci.* 8:427
- Kelberman D, de Castro SC, Huang S, Crolla JA, Palmer R, et al. 2008. SOX2 plays a critical role in the pituitary, forebrain, and eye during human embryonic development. J. Clin. Endocrinol. Metab. 93:1865– 73
- King M, Wilson A. 1975. Evolution at two levels in humans and chimpanzees. Science 188:107-16
- Kodani A, Yu TW, Johnson JR, Jayaraman D, Johnson TL, et al. 2015. Centriolar satellites assemble centrosomal microcephaly proteins to recruit CDK2 and promote centriole duplication. eLife 4:07519
- Konopka G, Bomar JM, Winden K, Coppola G, Jonsson ZO, et al. 2009. Human-specific transcriptional regulation of CNS development genes by FOXP2. *Nature* 462:213–17
- Lai CS, Fisher SE, Hurst JA, Vargha-Khadem F, Monaco AP. 2001. A forkhead-domain gene is mutated in a severe speech and language disorder. *Nature* 413:519–23
- Lander ES, Linton LM, Birren B, Nusbaum C, Zody MC, et al. 2001. Initial sequencing and analysis of the human genome. *Nature* 409:860–921
- Lee TI, Young RA. 2013. Transcriptional regulation and its misregulation in disease. Cell 152:1237-51
- Lek M, Karczewski K, Minikel E, Samocha K, Banks E, et al. 2016. Analysis of protein-coding genetic variation in 60,706 humans. *Nature* 536:285–91
- Lettice LA, Heaney SJH, Purdie LA, Li L, de Beer P, et al. 2003. A long-range Shh enhancer regulates expression in the developing limb and fin and is associated with preaxial polydactyly. *Hum. Mol. Genet.* 12:1725–35
- Li G, Fullwood MJ, Xu H, Mulawadi FH, Velkov S, et al. 2010. ChIA-PET tool for comprehensive chromatin interaction analysis with paired-end tag sequencing. *Genome Biol.* 11:R22
- Li G, Ruan X, Auerbach RK, Sandhu KS, Zheng M, et al. 2012. Extensive promoter-centered chromatin interactions provide a topological basis for transcription regulation. *Cell* 148:84–98
- Li G, Wang J, Rossiter SJ, Jones G, Zhang S. 2007. Accelerated FoxP2 evolution in echolocating bats. PLOS ONE 2:e900
- Lieberman-Aiden E, van Berkum NL, Williams L, Imakaev M, Ragoczy T, et al. 2009. Comprehensive mapping of long-range interactions reveals folding principles of the human genome. *Science* 326:289–93
- Lindblad-Toh K, Garber M, Zuk O, Lin MF, Parker BJ, et al. 2011. A high-resolution map of human evolutionary constraint using 29 mammals. *Nature* 478:476–82
- Makrythanasis P, Gimelli S, Bena F, Dahoun S, Morris MA, et al. 2012. Homozygous deletion of a gene-free region of 4p15 in a child with multiple anomalies: Could biallelic loss of conserved, non-coding elements lead to a phenotype? *Eur. J. Med. Genet.* 55:63–66

- Maston GA, Evans SK, Green MR. 2006. Transcriptional regulatory elements in the human genome. Annu. Rev. Genom. Hum. Genet. 7:29–59
- Maurano MT, Humbert R, Rynes E, Thurman RE, Haugen E, et al. 2012. Systematic localization of common disease-associated variation in regulatory DNA. *Science* 337:1190–95
- McLean CY, Reno PL, Pollen AA, Bassan AI, Capellini TD, et al. 2011. Human-specific loss of regulatory DNA and the evolution of human-specific traits. *Nature* 471:216–19
- Melnikov A, Murugan A, Zhang X, Tesileanu T, Wang L, et al. 2012. Systematic dissection and optimization of inducible enhancers in human cells using a massively parallel reporter assay. Nat. Biotechnol. 30:271–77
- Meyer M, Kircher M, Gansauge MT, Li H, Racimo F, et al. 2012. A high-coverage genome sequence from an archaic Denisovan individual. *Science* 338:222–26
- Montgomery SH, Capellini I, Venditti C, Barton RA, Mundy NI. 2011. Adaptive evolution of four microcephaly genes and the evolution of brain size in anthropoid primates. *Mol. Biol. Evol.* 28:625–38
- Montgomery SH, Mundy NI. 2012. Evolution of ASPM is associated with both increases and decreases in brain size in primates. *Evolution* 66:927–32
- Montgomery SH, Mundy NI. 2014. Microcephaly genes evolved adaptively throughout the evolution of eutherian mammals. BMC Evol. Biol. 14:120
- Muotri AR. 2016. The human model: changing focus on autism research. Biol. Psychiatry 79:642-49

Nair A, Howard R. 2013. ENCODE and a new landscape for psychiatric genetics. Br. J. Psychiatry 203:84-85

- Newman TL, Tuzun E, Morrison VA, Hayden KE, Ventura M, et al. 2005. A genome-wide survey of structural variation between human and chimpanzee. *Genome Res.* 15:1344–56
- Nielsen R, Bustamante C, Clark AG, Glanowski S, Sackton TB, et al. 2005. A scan for positively selected genes in the genomes of humans and chimpanzees. PLOS Biol. 3:e170
- Nobrega MA, Ovcharenko I, Afzal V, Rubin EM. 2003. Scanning human gene deserts for long-range enhancers. Science 302:413–14
- Noonan JP, Coop G, Kudaravalli S, Smith D, Krause J, et al. 2006. Sequencing and analysis of Neanderthal genomic DNA. *Science* 314:1113–18
- Nuttle X, Giannuzzi G, Duyzend MH, Schraiber JG, Narvaiza I, et al. 2016. Emergence of a *Homo sapiens*specific gene family and chromosome 16p11.2 CNV susceptibility. *Nature* 536:205–9
- Ogbourne S, Antalis TM. 1998. Transcriptional control and the role of silencers in transcriptional regulation in eukaryotes. *Biochem. J.* 331(Pt. 1):1–14
- Oksenberg N, Ahituv N. 2013. The role of *AUTS2* in neurodevelopment and human evolution. *Trends Genet*. 29:600–8
- Oksenberg N, Stevison L, Wall JD, Ahituv N. 2013. Function and regulation of *AUTS2*, a gene implicated in autism and human evolution. *PLOS Genet*. 9:e1003221
- Olson MV, Varki A. 2003. Sequencing the chimpanzee genome: insights into human evolution and disease. Nat. Rev. Genet. 4:20–28
- Paulding CA, Ruvolo M, Haber DA. 2003. The Tre2 (USP6) oncogene is a hominoid-specific gene. PNAS 100:2507–11
- Penn DC, Holyoak KJ, Povinelli DJ. 2008. Darwin's mistake: explaining the discontinuity between human and nonhuman minds. *Behav. Brain Sci.* 31:109–30
- Pennacchio LA, Rubin EM. 2001. Genomic strategies to identify mammalian regulatory sequences. Nat. Rev. Genet. 2:100–9
- Piao X, Hill RS, Bodell A, Chang BS, Basel-Vanagaite L, et al. 2004. G protein-coupled receptor-dependent development of human frontal cortex. *Science* 303:2033–36
- Pickard BS, Christoforou A, Thomson PA, Fawkes A, Evans KL, et al. 2008. Interacting haplotypes at the NPAS3 locus alter risk of schizophrenia and bipolar disorder. Mol. Psychiatry 14:874–84
- Pollard KS, Salama SR, King B, Kern AD, Dreszer T, et al. 2006a. Forces shaping the fastest evolving regions in the human genome. PLOS Genet. 2:e168
- Pollard KS, Salama SR, Lambert N, Lambot MA, Coppens S, et al. 2006b. An RNA gene expressed during cortical development evolved rapidly in humans. *Nature* 443:167–72
- Popesco MC, Maclaren EJ, Hopkins J, Dumas L, Cox M, et al. 2006. Human lineage-specific amplification, selection, and neuronal expression of DUF1220 domains. *Science* 313:1304–7

- Prabhakar S, Poulin F, Shoukry M, Afzal V, Rubin EM, et al. 2006. Close sequence comparisons are sufficient to identify human cis-regulatory elements. Genome Res. 16:855–63
- Prabhakar S, Visel A, Akiyama JA, Shoukry M, Lewis KD, et al. 2008. Human-specific gain of function in a developmental enhancer. *Science* 321:1346–50
- Prescott SL, Srinivasan R, Marchetto MC, Grishina I, Narvaiza I, et al. 2015. Enhancer divergence and *cis*-regulatory evolution in the human and chimp neural crest. *Cell* 163:68–83
- Reader SM, Laland KN. 2002. Social intelligence, innovation, and enhanced brain size in primates. *PNAS* 99:4436–41
- Reilly SK, Yin J, Ayoub AE, Emera D, Leng J, et al. 2015. Evolutionary changes in promoter and enhancer activity during human corticogenesis. *Science* 347:1155–59
- Reno PL, McLean CY, Hines JE, Capellini TD, Bejerano G, Kingsley DM. 2013. A penile spine/vibrissa enhancer sequence is missing in modern and extinct humans but is retained in multiple primates with penile spines and sensory vibrissae. *PLOS ONE* 8:e84258
- Rhesus Macaque Genome Seq. Anal. Consort., Gibbs RA, Rogers J, Katze MG, Bumgarner R, et al. 2007. Evolutionary and biomedical insights from the rhesus macaque genome. *Science* 316:222–34
- Roadmap Epigenomics Consort., Kundaje A, Meuleman W, Ernst J, Bilenky M, et al. 2015. Integrative analysis of 111 reference human epigenomes. *Nature* 518:317–30
- Roberts E, Hampshire DJ, Pattison L, Springell K, Jafri H, et al. 2002. Autosomal recessive primary microcephaly: an analysis of locus heterogeneity and phenotypic variation. J. Med. Genet. 39:718–21
- Roessler E, Belloni E, Gaudenz K, Jay P, Berta P, et al. 1996. Mutations in the human Sonic Hedgehog gene cause holoprosencephaly. Nat. Genet. 14:357–60
- Rogers J, Gibbs RA. 2014. Comparative primate genomics: emerging patterns of genome content and dynamics. Nat. Rev. Genet. 15:347–59
- Sabeti PC, Schaffner SF, Fry B, Lohmueller J, Varilly P, et al. 2006. Positive natural selection in the human lineage. *Science* 312:1614–20
- Scally A, Dutheil JY, Hillier LW, Jordan GE, Goodhead I, et al. 2012. Insights into hominid evolution from the gorilla genome sequence. *Nature* 483:169–75
- Schreiweis C, Bornschein U, Burguiere E, Kerimoglu C, Schreiter S, et al. 2014. Humanized Foxp2 accelerates learning by enhancing transitions from declarative to procedural performance. *PNAS* 111:14253–58
- Schwartz GG, Rosenblum LA. 1981. Allometry of primate hair density and the evolution of human hairlessness. Am. J. Phys. Anthropol. 55:9–12
- Shibata Y, Sheffield NC, Fedrigo O, Babbitt CC, Wortham M, et al. 2012. Extensive evolutionary changes in regulatory element activity during human origins are associated with altered gene expression and positive selection. *PLOS Genet.* 8:e1002789
- Shu W, Cho JY, Jiang Y, Zhang M, Weisz D, et al. 2005. Altered ultrasonic vocalization in mice with a disruption in the Foxp2 gene. PNAS 102:9643–48
- Siepel A, Arbiza L. 2014. Cis-regulatory elements and human evolution. Curr. Opin. Genet. Dev. 29:81-89
- Silbereis JC, Pochareddy S, Zhu Y, Li M, Sestan N. 2016. The cellular and molecular landscapes of the developing human central nervous system. *Neuron* 89:248–68
- Sockol MD, Raichlen DA, Pontzer H. 2007. Chimpanzee locomotor energetics and the origin of human bipedalism. PNAS 104:12265–69
- Stenson PD, Mort M, Ball EV, Evans K, Hayden M, et al. 2017. The Human Gene Mutation Database: towards a comprehensive repository of inherited mutation data for medical research, genetic diagnosis and next-generation sequencing studies. *Hum. Genet.* 136:665–77
- Street SE, Navarrete AF, Reader SM, Laland KN. 2017. Coevolution of cultural intelligence, extended life history, sociality, and brain size in primates. PNAS 114:7908–14
- Sudmant PH, Huddleston J, Catacchio CR, Malig M, Hillier LW, et al. 2013. Evolution and diversity of copy number variation in the great ape lineage. *Genome Res.* 23:1373–82
- Tomasello M, Rakoczy H. 2003. What makes human cognition unique? From individual to shared to collective intentionality. *Mind Lang.* 18:121–47
- Vallender EJ, Lahn BT. 2004. Positive selection on the human genome. Hum. Mol. Genet. 13(Spec. No. 2):R245–54

- Varki A, Altheide TK. 2005. Comparing the human and chimpanzee genomes: searching for needles in a haystack. *Genome Res.* 15:1746–58
- Vermunt MW, Tan SC, Castelijns B, Geeven G, Reinink P, et al. 2016. Epigenomic annotation of gene regulatory alterations during evolution of the primate brain. *Nat. Neurosci.* 19:494–503
- Visel A, Prabhakar S, Akiyama JA, Shoukry M, Lewis KD, et al. 2008. Ultraconservation identifies a small subset of extremely constrained developmental enhancers. *Nat. Genet.* 40:158–60
- Ward LD, Kellis M. 2012. Interpreting noncoding genetic variation in complex traits and human disease. Nat. Biotechnol. 30:1095–106
- Wasserman WW, Sandelin A. 2004. Applied bioinformatics for the identification of regulatory elements. Nat. Rev. Genet. 5:276–87
- Watanabe H, Hattori M. 2006. [Chimpanzee genome sequencing and comparative analysis with the human genome]. *Tanpakushitsu Kakusan Koso* 51:178–87
- Wittkopp PJ, Kalay G. 2011. Cis-regulatory elements: molecular mechanisms and evolutionary processes underlying divergence. Nat. Rev. Genet. 13:59–69
- Woolfe A, Goodson M, Goode DK, Snell P, McEwen GK, et al. 2005. Highly conserved non-coding sequences are associated with vertebrate development. *PLOS Biol.* 3:e7
- Wray GA. 2007. The evolutionary significance of cis-regulatory mutations. Nat. Rev. Genet. 8:206-16
- Wright A, Scadeng M, Stec D, Dubowitz R, Ridgway S, Leger JS. 2017. Neuroanatomy of the killer whale (Orcinus orca): a magnetic resonance imaging investigation of structure with insights on function and evolution. Brain Struct. Funct. 222:417–36
- Xu K, Schadt EE, Pollard KS, Roussos P, Dudley JT. 2015. Genomic and network patterns of schizophrenia genetic variation in human evolutionary accelerated regions. *Mol. Biol. Evol.* 32:1148–60
- Zerbini LF, Wang Y, Czibere A, Correa RG, Cho J-Y, et al. 2004. NF- κ B-mediated repression of growth arrest- and DNA-damage-inducible proteins 45 α and γ is essential for cancer cell survival. *PNAS* 101:13618–23
- Zhang JZ. 2003. Evolution by gene duplication: an update. Trends Ecol. Evol. 18:292-98
- Zhang JZ, Webb DM, Podlaha O. 2002. Accelerated protein evolution and origins of human-specific features: FOXP2 as an example. *Genetics* 162:1825–35
- Zhang X, Goodsell J, Norgren RB Jr. 2012. Limitations of the rhesus macaque draft genome assembly and annotation. *BMC Genom.* 13:206
- Zhang X, Sun H, Danila DC, Johnson SR, Zhou Y, et al. 2002. Loss of expression of GADD45γ, a growth inhibitory gene, in human pituitary adenomas: implications for tumorigenesis. *J. Clin. Endocrinol. Metab.* 87:1262–67
- Zhu J, Adli M, Zou JY, Verstappen G, Coyne M, et al. 2013. Genome-wide chromatin state transitions associated with developmental and environmental cues. *Cell* 152:642–54



υ

Annual Review of Neuroscience

Volume 41, 2018

Contents

Abnormal mTOR Activation in Autism Kellen D. Winden, Darius Ebrahimi-Fakhari, and Mustafa Sahin
Structural Plasticity in Adulthood with Motor Learning and Stroke Rehabilitation <i>Cassandra Sampaio-Baptista, Zeena-Britt Sanders, and Heidi Johansen-Berg</i>
Basic and Translational Neuroscience of Childhood-Onset Dystonia: A Control-Theory Perspective <i>Terence D. Sanger</i>
Myelin Plasticity and Nervous System Function Michelle Monje
Cognition as a Window into Neuronal Population Space Douglas A. Ruff, Amy M. Ni, and Marlene R. Cohen
Neural Mechanisms of Social Cognition in Primates Marco K. Wittmann, Patricia L. Lockwood, and Matthew F.S. Rushworth
Evolution of New miRNAs and Cerebro-Cortical Development Kenneth S. Kosik and Tomasz Nowakowski
Neuronal Activity-Dependent Control of Postnatal Neurogenesis and Gliogenesis <i>Ragnhildur T. Káradóttir and Chay T. Kuo</i>
Toward an Integrative Theory of Thalamic Function Rajeev V. Rikhye, Ralf D. Wimmer, and Michael M. Halassa
Evolutionary Changes in Transcriptional Regulation: Insights into Human Behavior and Neurological Conditions <i>Ryan N. Doan, Taehwan Shin, and Christopher A. Walsh</i>
Medulloblastoma: From Molecular Subgroups to Molecular Targeted Therapies Jun Wang, Alexandra Garancher, Vijay Ramaswamy
and Robert J. Wechsler-Reya

Computational Principles of Supervised Learning in the Cerebellum Jennifer L. Raymond and Javier F. Medina
Lysosomes and Brain Health Jaiprakash Sharma, Alberto di Ronza, Parisa Lotfi, and Marco Sardiello
What Happens with the Circuit in Alzheimer's Disease in Mice and Humans? Benedikt Zott, Marc Aurel Busche, Reisa A. Sperling, and Arthur Konnerth
Long-Term Plasticity of Neurotransmitter Release: Emerging Mechanisms and Contributions to Brain Function and Disease Hannah R. Monday, Thomas J. Younts, and Pablo E. Castillo
Viral Strategies for Targeting the Central and Peripheral Nervous Systems
Claire N. Bedbrook, Benjamin E. Deverman, and Viviana Gradinaru
Neural Circuits of Sexual Behavior in Caenorhabditis elegans Scott W. Emmons 349
Anxiety, Depression, and Decision Making: A Computational Perspective Sonia J. Bishop and Christopher Gagne
Memory Allocation: Mechanisms and Function Sheena A. Josselyn and Paul W. Frankland
Closing the Loop: From Motor Neuroscience to Neurorehabilitation <i>Ryan T. Roemmich and Amy J. Bastian</i>
A Guide to Emerging Technologies for Large-Scale and Whole-Brain Optical Imaging of Neuronal Activity Siegfried Weisenburger and Alipasha Vaziri
Endogenous and Exogenous Opioids in Pain Gregory Corder, Daniel C. Castro, Michael R. Bruchas, and Grégory Scherrer 453
The Dynamic Basis of Respiratory Rhythm Generation: One Breath at a Time <i>Jan-Marino Ramirez and Nathan A. Baertsch</i>
The Accessory Olfactory System: Innately Specialized or Microcosm of Mammalian Circuitry? <i>Timothy E. Holy</i>
Cortical Coding of Auditory Features <i>Xiaoqin Wang</i>
How Movement Modulates Hearing David M. Schneider and Richard Mooney